# Modulation of the nitroglycerin-induced activation of second order trigeminal neurons in the rat

Ph.D. Thesis

HEDVIG VARGA

Department of Neurology University of Szeged Albert Szent-Györgyi Medical and Pharmaceutical Center Faculty of Medicine

2009

Szeged

# Original publications related to the Ph.D. thesis

I. Párdutz Á, Hoyk Z, Varga H, Vécsei L, Schoenen J (2007) Oestrogen-modulated increase of calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II (CamKII) in rat spinal trigeminal nucleus after systemic nitroglycerin, *Cephalalgia* 27, 46-53.

IF: 3,686

II. Varga H, Párdutz Á, Vámos E, Plangár I, Együd E, Tajti J, Bari F, Vécsei L (2007) Cox-2 inhibitor attenuates NO-induced nNOS in rat caudal trigeminal nucleus, *Headache* 47, 1319-25.

IF: 3,081

III. Varga H, Párdutz Á, Vámos E, Bohár Z, Bagó F, Tajti J, Bari F, Vécsei L (2009) Selective inhibition of cyclooxygenase-2 attenuates nitroglycerin-induced calmodulindependent protein kinase II alpha in rat trigeminal nucleus caudalis, *Neurosci Lett.* 451, 170-3.

IF: 2,2

# List of abbreviations

5-HT	serotonin
AMPA	$\alpha$ -amino-5-hydroxy-3-methyl-4-isoxazole propionic acid
CamKII	calmodulin dependent protein kinase II
cGMP	cyclic guanosine monophosphate
CGRP	calcitonine gene-related peptide
COX	cyclooxygenase
COX-1	cyclooxygenase-1
COX-2	cyclooxygenase-2
COX-3	cyclooxygenase-3
CSD	cortical spreading depression
eNOS	endothelial nitric oxide synthase
FHM	familial hemiplegic migraine
iNOS	inducible nitric oxide synthase
Ir	immunoreactive
NMDA	N-methyl-D-aspartate
nNOS	neuronal nitric oxide synthase
NO	nitric oxide
NOS	nitric oxide synthase
NSAID	non-steroid anti-inflammatory drug
NTG	nitroglycerin
PBS	phosphate buffered saline
s.c.	subcutaneous
TNC	spinal portion of the caudal trigeminal nucleus

# Table of contents

Summary	4	
I. Introduction	6	
II. Aims	15	
III. Materials and methods		
III.1. CamKII	15	
III.1.1. Estradiol pretreatment		
III.1.2. Selective COX inhibitor pretreatment	17	
III.2. nNOS	17	
IV. Results	19	
IV. 1. CamKII	19	
IV.1.1. Estradiol pretreatment		
IV.1.2. Selective COX inhibitor pretreatment	25	
IV.2. nNOS		
V. Discussion		
V.1. NTG-induced CamKII and its modulation by estradiol		
V.2. Effect of COX inhibitors		
VI. Conclusions	36	
VII. Acknowledgement		
References		
Appendix	51	

#### Summary

Migraine headache is the most common neurological disorder where the activation and the sensitization of the trigeminovascular system are crucial. It affects up to 12% of the population and after puberty women are three to four times more frequently affected by this headache disorder. Abrupt falls in estrogen plasma levels can trigger the attacks, e.g. in the premenstrual phase, and they may disappear during pregnancy or after menopause, when plasma level of estrogen is stable.

The nitric oxide (NO) donor, nitroglycerin (NTG) can trigger a migraine attack, after a delay of several hours in migraineurs, but not in healthy people. This long delay does not favor a pure vasodilatatory action. Due to the similarity to the normal migraine attacks, NO may cause trigeminal activation and sensitization. NTG administration in the rat was also shown to elicit the activation of pain-mediating trigeminal nucleus caudalis (TNC) neurons. This effect was maximal after a delay of 4 hours, congruent with the delay of NTG induction of migraine in humans. In rats, subcutaneous administration of NTG (10 mg/kg) increases significantly the number of neuronal nitric oxide synthase (nNOS) -immunoreactive neurons in the TNC after 4 hours, which could be attenuated by acetyl-salicylate (Aspirin), a nonselective cyclooxygenase (COX) -inhibitor. In the rat NTG model estradiol pretreatment blunts calcitonin gene related peptide (CGRP) and serotonin (5-HT) changes in the superficial laminae of the TNC, which suggest that ovarian hormones have the capacity to modify the expression of pivotal transmitters in the trigeminovascular nociceptive pathway. Calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II (CamKII) present in superficial dorsal horns is thought to play a role in sensitization of central nociceptors, a phenomen present in migraineurs.

The aims of our studies were to 1. study the effect of systemic NTG administration on the CamKII expression of the most caudal part of the TNC of the rat; 2. examine the possible modulatory effects of estradiol on this phenomenon. 3. determine which isoform of the COX enzyme plays a role in the nNOS and CamKII activation caused by NTG in the same region.

In male rats and in ovariectomized females, after 4 h NTG increased significantly CamKII expression in the superficial layers of TNC, but not in the upper thoracic spinal cord. NTG had no effect on CamKII expression in estradiol-treated ovariectomized animals. Thus NTG, i.e. NO, selectively enhances CamKII in the rat TNC and estradiol blocks this effect. We also demonstrated that pretreatment with NS398, the selective COX-2 inhibitor attenuated the NTG-induced nNOS and CamKII expression in the TNC at doses of 3 and 5mg/kg. In contrast, SC560, a selective COX-1 inhibitor failed to modulate this phenomenon in any of the dosages used (1, 5 and 10 mg/kg).

These findings suggest that metabolites deriving from COX-2 (but not COX-1) may be the most important factors in the NTG-induced CamKII and nNOS and chronic estradiol administration can modulate the NO mediated CamKII activation in the trigeminal system. This may help us to understand the mechanisms by which NO triggers migraine attacks and estrogens influence migraine severity.

#### **I. Introduction**

Migraine headache is the most common neurological disorder, affecting up to 12% of the population (Raskin 1993; Fozard & Kalkmann, 1994; Saxena 1994; Moskowitz *et al.*, 1995). The cost of migraine to European society is 27.000 million (27 billion) euros per year, primarily because of decreased working efficiency and workdays lost (Andlin-Sobocki *et al.*, 2005). Among others gonadal hormones are important modulators of migraine (MacGregor 2004). After puberty women are three to four times more frequently affected by this headache disorder (Rasmussen *et al.*, 1991).

Migraine is commonly known as a throbbing unilateral head pain that is readily aggravated by routine physical activities. The clinical definition of migraine includes a host of transient neurological symptoms other than pain, namely, nausea, photophobia, phonophobia, osmophobia, fatigue, and numerous disturbances in autonomic, mental, sensory and motor functions. Numerous factors are putatively involved in the etiology of migraine such as susceptibility to particular stimuli (stress, nitrated foods etc) or changes within the central nervous system (Moskowitz *et al.*, 1995; Lance 1991; Moskowitz 2007). The neural mechanisms underlying the development of migraine attacks are not yet fully understood (Saxena 1994).

The throbbing pain experienced in migraine was first attributed to the pulsations of abnormally dilated vessels (Blau & Dexter, 1981; Friedberg *et al.*, 1991). Nociceptive inputs generated from the pain-sensitive extracerebral vessels are then sent via the trigeminal ganglion and subsequently the spinal trigeminal nucleus caudalis (TNC) to higher centers involved in pain processing (Saxena 1994). Nevertheless vasodilatation per se could not account for a number of observations in migraine sufferers (Friedberg *et al.*, 1991; Humphrey & Goadsby, 1994) and a neuronal origin of the pain was suggested (Moskowitz 1993). According to this hypothesis activation of meningeal nociceptors could cause the sensory fibers to secrete from their peripheral branches calcitonin gene-related peptide (CGRP) (Ebersberger *et al.*, 1999), a neuropeptide capable of initiating neurogenic inflammation in the dura (Goadsby & Edvinsson, 1993; Moskowitz & Macfarlane, 1993) and the introduction of inflammatory agents such as histamine, serotonin (5-HT), bradykinin and prostaglandins to their environment. The local inflammation produced by vasoactive peptides in turn, further

stimulates perivascular nociceptive trigeminal fibers. However administration of vasoactive peptides is not able to trigger pain (Pedersen-Bjerregard *et al.*, 1991; Shekar *et al.*, 1991) – except pituitary adenylate cyclase activating peptide-38 which infusion caused headache and vasodilatation in both healthy subjects and migraine patients (Schytz *et al.*, 2009) - the possibility of involvement of other substances with a broader spectrum of actions such as NO, was suggested (Fozard & Gray, 1989; Fozard & Kalkmann, 1994; Olesen *et al.*, 1995). NO may have a crucial role in this process as an important mediator in the initiation or the propagation of a neurogenic cranial vessel inflammatory response that might eventually result in a migraine attack (Shukla *et al.*, 2001), and in the changes in cerebral blood flow during migraine (Fidan *et al.*, 2006). In this respect a study demonstrated that NO, additionally to its vasodilatory effects, could elicit a direct activation of nociceptive trigeminal fibers (Wei *et al.*, 1992). Moreover studies proved that NO and the related cyclic guanosine monophosphate (cGMP) system is capable to inhibit the activity of spinothalamic pathways via glycine and GABAergic mechanisms (Lin *et al.*, 1999).

However these peripheral mechanisms are not able to explain some associated symptoms of migraine, such nausea, vomiting, sensitivity to light, sound, or movement and allodynia, and the most recent neuronal theories of migraine have been suggested. Using a positron emission tomography study it was shown that in migraine without aura certain areas in the brain stem, such as periaqueductal gray, raphe nuclei and locus coeruleus, were activated during the headache state, but not in the headache free interval (Weiller *et al.*, 1995). It was suggested that this brain stem activation is inherent to the migraine attack itself and represents the so called 'migraine generator'. Further studies also postulated that the brainstem plays a pivotal role in migraine (Goadsby *et al.*, 1991; Welch *et al.*, 2001). These results support and emphasize the role of certain brain stem areas as possible "generators" of migraine attacks, potentially by dysfunctional control of the trigeminovascular nociceptive system.

Cortical spreading depression (CSD) might be the biological basis for the neurologic aura that precedes headache in some migraine patients (Avioli *et al.*, 1991; Lauritzen 1994). CSD is a slow wave electrophysiological activity that occurs in response to physical cortical stimulation and propagates along the cerebral cortex was first described by Leao (1944). It triggers the release of numerous neurochemicals and changes in the tone of extracerebral vessels (Lauritzen 1994). In animal studies, CSD can activate the meningeal trigeminal nociceptive afferents and evoke alterations in the meninges and brainstem consistent with the development of headache (Bolay *et al.*, 2002). These studies support the idea that CSD may initiate migraine attacks (Pietrobon 2005; Thomsen *et al.*, 2002). Neuronally produced NO has also been evidenced in cerebral cortex during CSD (Goadsby *et al.*, 1992; Wahl *et al.*, 1994; Read *et al.*, 1996; Shen & Gundlach, 1999; Read & Parsons, 2000).

Familial hemiplegic migraine (FHM) is a rare autosomal dominant subtype of migraine with aura, whose aura symptoms include motor weakness or paralysis (often, but not always, unilateral). Mutations in the genes *CACNA1A* and *SCNA1A*, encoding the  $\alpha$ 1 subunits of the neuronal voltage-gated Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels and Na<sup>+</sup> channels are responsible for FHM1 and FHM3, respectively, whereas mutations in *ATP1A2*, encoding the  $\alpha$ 2 subunit of the Na<sup>+</sup>, K<sup>+</sup> ATPase, are responsible for FHM2 (Pietrobon 2007). Studies showed that, FHM1, FHM2, and FHM3 mutations share the ability of rendering the brain more susceptible to CSD by causing either excessive synaptic glutamate release (FHM1) or decreased removal of K<sup>+</sup> and glutamate from the synaptic cleft (FHM2) or excessive extracellular K<sup>+</sup> (FHM3) (Pietrobon 2005; van den Maagdenberg *et al.*, 2004; Sanchez-Del-Rio *et al.*, 2006; Moskowitz *et al.*, 2004).

Another important asset of migraine pathology is the presence of sensitization process during the attack. Strassman et al. (1996) showed that meningeal primary afferent neurons can become mechanically hypersensitive upon exposure of their dural receptive field to inflammatory agents. Mechanically insensitive neurons became mechanosensitive after the chemical stimulation of the dura, and the mechano-sensitivity of neurons that showed only minimal response prior to the chemical stimulation of the dura increased significantly minutes after the chemical stimulation. In humans, such mechanical hypersensitivity could mediate the throbbing pain of migraine and its worsening during coughing, bending over, or other physical activities that increase intracranial pressure (Blau & Dexter, 1981; Anthony & Rasmussen, 1993).

The sensitization process is not only restricted to the peripheral nerves but involves the central nervous system. The central sensization hypothesis, which proposes that altered processing of sensory input in the brainstem, principally the trigeminal nucleus caudalis, could account for many of the temporal and symptomatic features of migraine (Dodick & Silberstein, 2006).

Burstein et al. (1998) showed that the sustained firing of sensitized meningeal nociceptors eventually leads to activation and subsequent sensitization of central trigeminovascular neurons, which process sensory signals that originate not only from the dura, but also from the periorbital skin, resulting in increased responsiveness not only to mild changes in intracranial pressure but also to innocuous skin stimulation. This central sensitization, which occurs during migraine in many patients (Burstein *et al.*, 2000) is manifested as cutaneous allodynia. This concept has important clinical implications. The triptans, because of their apparent lack of central activity, are only effective in providing total relief of migraine pain if they are administered prior to the onset of the sensitization process (Dodick & Silberstein, 2006).

Central sensitization involves the TNC, as it is associated with abnormal neuronal excitability in this nucleus (Silberstein 2004). Several studies suggest that the NO donor nitroglycerin (NTG) may have a hyperalgesic effect (Sandrini *et al.*, 2002; Tassorelli *et al.*, 2003) and that sensitization of pain pathways in the spinal cord may be caused by – or associated with – the generation of NO (Wu *et al.*, 2000). High doses of NTG reduced tail flick latency in rats and it seems that prolonged elevation of NO in the spinal cord is necessary to maintain central sensitization after it has been established (Lin *et al.*, 1999; Luo & Cizkova, 2000; Costa *et al.*, 2005). In several models of neuropathic and inflammatory pain, neuronal nitric oxid synthase (nNOS) inhibition reduces central sensitization and, indeed, pain responses in these models are increased by NO donors (Coderre & Yashpal, 1994; Mao *et al.*, 1997). During the spontaneous and the NTG-induced migraine attack, cutaneous pain thresholds to heat laser stimulus were found to be significantly reduced on both the symptomatic and nonsymptomatic sides in comparison with the headache-free phase (de Tommaso *et al.*, 2002, 2004), confirming the role of central sensitization in migraine (Burstein *et al.*, 2000).

The strongest evidence for the key-role of NO in the etiology of migraine stems from observations in migraine sufferers and led to the NO hypothesis of migraine put forward by Olesen and colleagues (1995). Systemic administration of NTG, a NO donor, induces an immediate headache in humans (Iversen *et al.*, 1989). In migraineurs, this headache is more severe, lasts longer, and can continue to or be followed by a specific attack of migraine without aura (Sicuteri *et al.*, 1987; Thomsen *et al.*, 1994; Olesen *et al.*, 1995). A

biphasic headache can also be triggered by NTG in patients suffering from chronic tensiontype headache (Ashina et al., 2000). This effect is very likely to be related to NTG-derived NO. The role of NO is also supported by the fact that other drugs that are able to induce migraine such histamine, reserpine or the serotoninergic antagonist mCPP all have in common to be associated with the release of endogenous NO (Olesen et al., 1995; Fozard et al., 1994). The infusion of NTG in human induces an immediate throbbing headache in healthy subjects, while most migraine patients experience a more severe delayed headache, that is identical to spontaneous migraine attacks except the aura (Iversen et al., 1989; Sicuteri et al., 1987; Olesen et al., 1993, 1995; Thomsen et al., 1994). Due to the vasodilating effect of NO, the immediate headache is a consequence of the selective action of NTG on extra- and intracranial blood vessels, principally the dural arteries and large penetrating cerebral arteries, while the delayed headache might be mainly due to an effect of NO on neuronal function (Tassorelli et al., 1999). Although the half-lives of NTG and NO are very short in vivo (Murad 1990; Kelm 1999), the migraine attack occurs several hours after NTG infusion (Thomsen et al., 1994). Thus it appears that NO is a cause of migraine through mechanisms that develop over a long period of time. This is consistent with the possibility of a delayed and sustained production of NO by nitric oxide synthases (NOSs) in a large number of tissues (Moncada et al., 1991; Forstermann & Kleinert, 1995).

NO is formed from L-arginine by nitric oxide synthase (NOS) and as an unconventional transmitter substance it can cross cell membranes rapidly without any specialized release machinery. The synthetizing enzyme has three isoforms: neuronal (nNOS), endothelial (eNOS), and inducible (iNOS). The presence of nNOS in the superficial layers of the dorsal horn of the spinal cord suggests that NO has functions in sensory and pain processing (Saito *et al.*, 1994). After s.c. formalin injection in the paw, the number of c-fos-and nNOS positive neurons increases in the ipsilateral dorsal horn of the appropriate lumbar spinal segment (Hunt *et al.*, 1987; Lam *et al.*, 1996). Dural mastocytes and trigeminal nerve endings are nNOS positive (Berger *et al.*, 1994) and the enzyme can also be detected in the caudal trigeminal nucleus (Dohrn *et al.*, 1994) and in 5% of the Gasserian ganglion cells (Zhang *et al.*, 1996). NOS inhibitors reduce c-fos activation by nociceptive stimuli in the dorsal horn in rats (Wang *et al.*, 1999; Wu *et al.*, 2000). Activation of the trigeminovascular sytem in response to pain can be markedly reduced by the administration of a NOS inhibitor

(Hoskin *et al.*, 1999; Ackerman *et al.*, 2002). The importance of endogenous NO production during the headache phase of migraine has been evidenced in the study of Lassen et al. (1997) where the inhibition of NOS relieved the symptoms of spontaneous migraine with high efficacy. Taken together, this suggests that nNOS is an important factor in trigeminal pain processing, and that the study of NO long-term effects within the structures relevant to migraine may provide critical information for the understanding of the neurovascular events related to the initiation of the crisis and the developement of migraine headache.

Due to its high lipophilicity, NO can readily cross the blood brain barrier and its action is primary limited by its very short half-life (Kelm 1999). NO-induced vasodilation is primarily attributed to its local release from the vascular endothelium to the adjacent smooth muscle where it triggers the production of cGMP and muscular relaxation (Moncada et al., 1991). In the guinea-pig dura mater NO induces extravasation and other changes similar to those induced by neurogenic inflammation (Johnson et al., 2003). NO has also been shown to elicit a direct and immediate activation of trigeminal nerve terminals afferent to extracerebral vessels (Wei *et al.*, 1992). Furthermore a recent study demonstrated that NO can induce delayed, slowly developing activation of central trigeminal neurons and that endogenous release of NO may contribute to the ongoing activity of these neurons (Koulchitsky et al., 2004). Several studies have suggested that NO is strongly involved in the development and maintenance of hyperalgesia in the spinal cord (Urban & Gebhart, 1999). Furthermore in an open pilot study hydroxycobalamin, a NO scavenger, reduced migraine attacks by more than 50% in half of the patients (van der Kuy et al., 2002). Overall these studies suggest that NO might mediate the development of a supersensitivity to pain within the TNC and that NO has not only a rapid effect in vasodilation and pain but is also critically involved in the long-term development of genuine migraine crisis.

Results from animal experiments supports that NTG activates the pain-mediating TNC neurons, as the administration of NTG in the rat significantly enhanced the number of Fosimmunoreactive neurons in brain areas involved in sensory nociceptive perception, including the TNC (Tassorelli & Joseph, 1995; Tassorelli *et al.*, 1997). This effect was maximal after a delay of 4 hours, congruent with the delay of NTG induction of migraine in human (Thomsen *et al.*, 1994; Olesen *et al.*, 1995). Furthermore in the animal model a large number of the activated neurons also exhibited NOS immunoreactivity (Tassorelli & Joseph, 1995). In neurons of the lower TNC (including the upper cervical spinal cord), where most of the trigeminal nociceptors project, NTG also increases the expression of nNOS (Pardutz *et al.*, 2000). The most likely explanation for this increased nNOS immunoreactivity is the secondary activation of second order nociceptive neurons and/or interneurons because of excitation of their peripheral afferents. The increased nNOS level in the second order trigeminal neurons can be associated with a central sensitization phenomenon, which is characteristic in migraineurs (Burstein *et al.*, 2000; Kaube *et al.*, 2002). This effect is inhibited by pretreatment with acetyl-salicylate, but not with sumatriptan, indicating that prostanoids are involved in this process (Pardutz *et al.*, 2004).

Taken together, these studies show that NO can be released in multiple structures directly involved in migraine and affect both vascular and neural tissues. It is therefore in a position to play a critical role in the sequential development of the migraine crisis, first being released during CSD and later on during central sensitization of pain pathways, which leads migraine pain. In the rat systemic NTG administration is a valuable tool for trigeminovascular activation and for investigation the modulatory effects of certain drugs on the trigeminovascular system.

Ca<sup>2+</sup>/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II (CamKII) is a major protein kinase that is capable of regulating the activities of many ion channels and receptors. It is found throughout the central nervous system and it regulates calcium signalling in synaptic transmission (Hudmon & Schulman, 2002). CamKII is capable of autophosphorylation, which increases its activity (Yang & Schulman, 1999) and is necessary for long-term potentiation induction in the hippocampus (Havik *et al.*, 2003). It binds to N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptors in rats and its a subunit increases ion currents through a-amino-5-hydroxy-3-methyl-4-isoxazole propionic acid (AMPA) and NMDA receptors (Kolaj *et al.*, 1994). There is strong evidence that CamKII plays a key role in nociceptive processing and sensitization of central sensory neurons (Choi *et al.*, 2006; Luo *et al.*, 2008). In the superficial layers of the spinal dorsal horns it is abundant both in neuronal perikarya and in the neuropil (Fang *et al.*, 2002). The latter is explained by the fact that more than half of dorsal root ganglion cells are CamKII+, especially in the trigeminal ganglion (Ichikawa *et al.*, 2004). CamKII immunoreactivity in laminae I–II of the spinal cord is increased after subcutaneous injections of substance P (Choi

*et al.*, 2005), and this increase can be blocked by CamKII inhibitors (Fang *et al.*, 2002). After acute noxious stimulation CamKII expression is upregulated in dorsal horn synapses formed by peptidergic primary afferents (Larsson & Broman, 2006), which are also crucial in the pathogenesis of headaches.

Taken together CamKII is a pivotal agent in nociceptive processing and central sensitization suggesting an important role in the pathomechanism of migraine.

Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), such as acetylsalicylic acid (Aspirin<sup>®</sup>), are effective in the treatment of acute migraine headache (Lange *et al.*, 2000) and tension-type headache (Schoenen 2000). This effect could be due to their inhibitory action on cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) and prostaglandins in the spinal trigeminal complex (Yaksh et al., 2001), but they could also inhibit NOS activation by reducing the induction of transcription factor NF kappa ß (Ma et al., 1998). Prostaglandins are thought to play role in many neurological functions including the nociceptive processing. Several isoforms of their synthetizing enzyme are known: cyclooxygenase-1 (COX-1) and -2 and the most recently discovered and described cyclooxygenase-3 (COX-3) (Willoughby et al., 2000; Kis et al., 2004). COX-1 is expressed constitutively in most cells of the brain and it participates in various homeostatic processes. Constitutive COX-2 expression is rare or even absent in most organs of the body, except in the brain. Recent data suggest that COX-2 may play a critical role in brain development and synaptic signaling and COX-2 expression is upregulated under several pathological conditions (Institoris et al., 2009). Mainly COX-2 is thought to be responsible for nociceptive processing, but there are also reports suggesting that COX-1 may become over-expressed during inflammation (Wallace et al., 1998). Constitutively expressed COX-2 is found in the superficial dorsal horn of the rat spinal cord (Beiche et al., 1998). It has been proposed that prostaglandins synthesized by COX-2 assist in synaptic transmission (Adams et al., 1996) and enhance postsynaptic activity of both excitatory and inhibitory neurotransmitters (Kimura et al., 1985). These data may explain the fact that COX-2 plays an important role in central sensitization (Samad et al., 2001) and it is thought to mediate most of the analgesic effects of NSAIDs (Yaksh et al., 2001). In rats, infusion of COX-1/COX-2 inhibitors blocked sensitization of meningeal nociceptors and suppressed ongoing sensitization in spinal trigeminovascular neurons (Jakubowski et al., 2005). A dual-acting COX-2 inhibitor was effective in a rat model of capsaicin-induced central sensitization (Bingham *et al.*, 2005).

Gonadal steroids, in particular estradiol, modulate nociception (Craft et al., 2004) and the clinical expression of migraine. After puberty women are three times more affected. Abrupt falls in estrogen plasma levels can trigger the attacks, e.g. in the premenstrual phase, (Somerville 1975) and they may disappear during pregnancy or after menopause, when plasma level of estrogen is stable (Marcus 1995; Silberstein & Merriam, 2000). In the study of Magos et al. (1983) a subcutaneous implant of 17β-estradiol decreased headache intensity of more than 80% of women with menstrual migraine. Moreover, in women undergoing in vitro fertilization, where an analogue of gonadotropin-releasing hormone was administered to downregulate estrogen levels, the low levels of 17β-estradiol correlated with an increased headache prevalence (Amir et al., 2005). The neurobiological mechanisms which underlie these modulatory effects of estrogen on migraine remain speculative. Estrogen receptors are present on spinal sensory ganglion neurons (Yang et al., 1998; Taleghany et al., 1999) and in spinal gray matter (Shughrue & Merchenthaler, 2001). In rats, estrogens are reported to decrease myogenic tone through a NO-dependent mechanism in rat cerebral arteries (Geary et al., 1998). In mice it has been shown that estrogens decrease nociception, notably in the trigeminal system (Multon et al., 2005). In the rat nitroglycerin model estradiol pretreatment blunts CGRP and 5-HT changes in the superficial laminae of the TNC (Pardutz et al., 2002), which suggest that ovarian hormones, which greatly influence the course of migraine, have indeed the capacity to modify the expression of pivotal transmitters in the trigeminovascular nociceptive pathway.

On the basis of these data we decided to investigate the possible modulatory effects of COX-inhibition and hormonal influences in the NTG model of migraine.

# II. Aims

The aims of our studies were to

i.) study the effect of systemic NTG administration on the CamKII expression of the most caudal part of the TNC of the rat

ii.) examine the possible modulatory effects of estradiol and selective COX inhibitors in the above process.

iii.) determine which isoform of the COX enzyme plays a role in the nNOS activation caused by NTG in the same region.

#### **III.** Materials and methods

All experimental procedures described in this paper followed the guidelines of the International Association for the Study of Pain and the European Communities Council (86/609/EEC). They were approved by the Ethics Committee of the Faculty of Medicine, University of Liège and University of Szeged. The animals were raised and maintained in standard laboratory conditions with tap water and regular rat chow available ad libitum on a 12h:12h dark-light cycle.

#### III.1. CamKII

#### **III.1.1. Estradiol pretreatment**

**Animals:** Twenty-four male and 48 female Wistar rats (weighing between 250 and 350 g) were used. At the age of 2 months, the female animals (n = 48) were ovariectomized under Nembutal anaesthesia and half of them had a 5 mm long Silastic capsule (3.18 mm o.d. and 1.57 mm i.d.; Dow Corning, Midland, MI, USA) filled with a 1 : 1 mixture of cholesterol (Sigma Chemical Co., St Louis, MO, USA) and 17 $\beta$ -estradiol (Fluka, Buchs, Switzerland) inserted subcutaneously in the interscapular region. The capsules maintain estradiol plasma levels in a range typical of those found in female rats at early proestrus (Smith *et al.*, 1977). At the age of 3 months, half of the animals in all three groups [12 males, 12 ovariectomized females (ovx), 12 ovariectomized females treated with estradiol (ovx + E2)] received a subcutaneous (s.c.) injection of NTG (prepared from Nitrolingual<sup>®</sup> spray; Pohl-Boskamp

GmbH, Hohenlockstedt, Germany) at a dose of 10 mg/kg. The other half received an injection of the vehicle (gift from Pohl-Boskamp GmbH) in the same location. Four hours after NTG or vehicle injection, the rats for the immunohistochemistry (eight in each group) were deeply anaesthetized with pentobarbital (Nembutal 80 mg/kg; Sanofi-Synthélabo, Paris, France) and transcardially perfused with 100 ml physiological saline followed by 500 ml 4% paraformaldehyde in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS). The cervical (C1–C2) spinal cords, as well as the thoracic (Th1) cord from all animals, were removed and postfixed overnight for immunohistochemistry. The animals for Western blotting (four in each group) were perfused only with physiological saline and the spinal cords were removed as above and processed for Western blotting.

**Immunohistochemistry:** After cryoprotection (30% sucrose overnight), 30  $\mu$ m thick transverse cryostat sections were serially cut and collected in 16 wells containing cold PBS. Each well received sections from sequential 500  $\mu$ m long tissue portions over the entire rostrocaudal extent of the C1–C2 and the Th1 spinal segments. After pretreatment with 0.3% H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, the free-floating sections were rinsed several times in 0.1 M PBS containing 1% Triton X-100 and then kept for three nights at 4°C in monoclonal anti-CamKII primary antisera (Sigma; C265) at a dilution of 1 : 2000. The immunocytochemical reaction was visualized using the Vectastain (Vector Laboratories Inc., Burlingame, CA, USA; PK-6101) avidin–biotin kit (ABC) with nickel–ammonium–sulphate-intensified 3',3'-diaminobenzidine (Sigma). The specificity of the immune reactions was controlled by omitting the primary antisera.

Western blotting: The dorsal portions of spinal cord segments were homogenized in cold Tris–HCl buffer (50 mM, pH 7.4). Protein concentration was measured according to Bradford (Bradford 1976) using bovine serum albumin as a standard. Equal amounts of protein samples (20 mg/lane) were separated by standard SDS–PAGE procedures at 200 V for 1 h and transferred to immobilon P membrane (Millipore). Following the transfer and blocking in 5% non-fat dry milk, membranes were incubated with the CamKII antibody (Sigma; C265), diluted to 1 : 1000. After the detection of CamKII protein, the membranes were stripped and reprobed for a  $\beta$ -actin antibody (Sigma; A5441) diluted to 1 : 4000, which was used as an internal control. Protein bands were visualized using the ECL Western blotting analysis kit (Amersham, Piscataway, NJ, USA). They were quantitatively analysed using a laser

densitometer (Pharmacia LKB, Piscataway, NJ, USA). Optical densities of specific bands were quantified by densitometry and corrected for protein loading by dividing by the  $\beta$ -actin signal of the same sample.

**Data analysis:** An observer blinded to the experimental procedures counted CamKIIimmunoreactive (Ir) cells in laminae I–III of the C1–C2 and Th1 segments of the spinal cord, on three different series of immunostained sections in each animal. In each series the distance between the individual sections was approximately 500  $\mu$ m along the rostrocaudal axis. The cell counts and relative Western blot optical densities were analysed with ANOVA and post hoc Scheffe's test. Statistical analyses were performed by SPSS (Version 11.0 for Windows; SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). The significance level was set at P < 0.05.

#### **III.1.2.** Selective COX inhibitor pretreatment

**Animals**: Eighty-four adult male Sprague-Dawley rats (weighing between 200 and 250 g) were used. The rats were divided into three groups. Group 1 (n=12): the animals did not receive any pretreatment. Group 2 (n=36): the rats received a s.c. injection of the selective COX-2 inhibitor, NS398 at a dose of 1 mg/kg (n=12), 3 mg/kg (n=12) or 5 mg/kg (n=12). Group 3 (n=36): the rats were injected subcutaneously with the selective COX-1 inhibitor, SC560 at a dose of 1 mg/kg (n=12) or 10 mg/kg (n=12). Thirty minutes later half of the animals received a s.c. injection of NTG (Nitrolingual<sup>®</sup>; Pohl-Boskamp GmbH, Hohenlockstedt, Germany), at a dose of 10 mg/kg and the other half of the rats received a s.c. injection of the vehicle of NTG (gift from Pohl-Boskamp GmbH). Four hours after the NTG and the placebo injections the rats were deeply anaesthetized by chloral hydrate (0.4 g/kg i.p.) and transcardially perfused with 100 ml PBS followed by 500 ml 4% paraformaldehyde in PB. Portions of the cervical spinal cords, representing the lowest part of the TNC, between 5 and 11 mm caudal to the obex were removed and postfixed overnight for immunohistochemistry.

**Immunohistochemistry**: The protocol was the same as described above for CamKII staining. **Data analysis**: The protocol was the same as described above for CamKII-Ir cells analysis.

#### III.2. nNOS

**Animals:** Eighty-six adult male Sprague-Dawley rats (weighing between 200 and 250 g) were used. The rats were divided into 3 groups. In the first group (n = 12), the animals did not receive any pretreatment. In the second group, the rats received a s.c. injection of the selective COX-2 inhibitor NS398 at a dose of 1 mg/kg (n = 12), 3 mg/kg (n = 12), or 5 mg/kg (n = 18). The animals of the third group were injected subcutaneously with the selective COX-1 inhibitor SC560 at a dose of 1 mg/kg (n = 12), 5 mg/kg (n = 12), or 10 mg/kg (n = 8). Thirty minutes after the drug administration, half of the animals belonging to each group and dosage received a s.c. injection of NTG (Nitrolingual<sup>®</sup>; Pohl-Boskamp GmbH, Hohenlockstedt, Germany) at a dose of 10 mg/kg and the other half of the animals received a s.c. injection of the vehicle (gift from Pohl-Boskamp GmbH). Four hours after the NTG or the placebo injections, the rats were deeply anesthetized by chloral hydrate (0.4 g/kg) and transcardially perfused as in the CamKII experiments. The portions of cervical spinal cords were removed and postfixed overnight for immunohistochemistry.

**Immunohistochemistry:** After cryoprotection (30% sucrose overnight) 30  $\mu$ m cryostat sections were cut and serially collected as in the CamKII experiments. After several rinses in PBS containing 1% Triton X-100, sections were kept for 2 nights at 4°C in anti-nNOS antibody (Euro-Diagnostica, B220-1) at a dilution of 1 : 20000. The immunocytochemical reaction was visualized using the avidin-biotin kit (ABC) of Vectastain (Vector Laboratories Inc., PK-6101) and stained with nickel ammonium sulfate-intensified 3'-3'-diaminobenzidine. Specificity of the immune reaction was controlled by omitting the primary antiserum.

**Data analysis:** nNOS-IR cells were counted by an observer blinded to the procedures in laminae I-III of the cervical spinal cord, in 3 different series of sections in each animal. The individual sections in these series were taken at 0.5-mm intervals along the rostrocaudal axis. nNOS positive neurons were scored, if they contained a cytoplasmic and dendritic staining and a nucleus. Group values are stated as mean  $\pm$ SEM. Statistical comparisons among the control and NTG-treated groups at each pretreatment dose were made using analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by Scheffe' test. Both analyses were implemented in SPSS (Version 11.0 for Windows, SPSS Inc.), with P < 0.05 considered statistically significant.

## **IV. Results**

#### **IV.1. CamKII**

# **IV.1.1. Estradiol pretreatment**

On microscopic examination of immunostained CamKII transverse sections. immunoreactivity was found in neurons of the TNC and in the neuropil of lamina II. As mentioned in the methods, we focused on immunoreactive neurons. CamKII-Ir cells were abundant in the superficial layers of the caudal spinal trigeminal nucleus. The number of cells was not significantly different between the various rostro-caudal levels, nor between sides of the TNC. After vehicle injection there was no significant difference in the number of CamKII-Ir cells in the TNC superficial laminae I-III between male rats, ovariectomized (ovx) and ovariectomized-estradiol treated females (ovx+E2) (Fig. 1A, 1C, 1E and 2). In contrast, 4 h after subcutaneous NTG administration there was a significant increase in the number of CamKII-Ir cells in males (Fig. 1B vs. 1A) and in ovx animals (Fig. 1D vs. 1C) compared with vehicle injections, but no change was found in ovx + E2 rats (Fig. 1E, 1F).



**Figure 1** Calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II immunoreactivity on transverse sections of the upper cervical spinal cord in males (A, B), ovariectomized (ovx) (C, D) and ovariectomized and treated with oestradiol (ovx + E2) females (E, F). Nitroglycerin administration (B, D, F) compared with vehicle (A, C, E) increases the number of immunoreactive cells in the superficial layers in males and ovx females (B, D) but not in ovx + E2 rats (F). Scale bar =  $50 \,\mu$ m.



**Figure 2** Histogram showing the number of CamKII-Ir cells in superficial laminae I–III of C1–C2 segments in the three animal groups 4 h after subcutaneous injection of vehicle (light bar) or nitroglycerin (dark bar) (mean + SEM, n = 8 per group). In males and ovariectomized (ovx) animals, but not in ovariectomized and treated with oestradiol (ovx + E2) animals, there is a significant increase in the number of CamKII-Ir cells (\*P < 0.05).

At the Th1 level the number of CamKII-Ir cells was overall smaller (sections not shown) and there was no significant difference between animal groups or between treatment conditions (Fig. 3).



**Figure 3** Histogram showing the number of CamKII-Ir cells in superficial laminae I–III of the Th1 spinal cord segment in the three animal groups 4 h after subcutaneous injection of vehicle (light bar) or nitroglycerin (dark bar) (mean + SEM, n = 8 per group). There is no significant difference in either of the groups.

The results of Western blotting were in line with those of immunohistochemistry. We identified the bands representing the CamKII protein. In male and ovx animals, which had received NTG 4 h before (Fig. 4, lanes 2 and 4), the density of the CamKII protein band in the

dorsal portion of the C1–C2 segments was increased compared with vehicle-injected rats (Fig. 4, lanes 1 and 3). In the ovx + E2 group the CamKII band was comparable after NTG (Fig. 4, lane 6) or vehicle injection (Fig. 4, lane 5). In the Th1 segments there was no apparent difference in either of the groups (blots not shown).



**Figure 4** Western blotting of CamKII (50 kDa) and  $\beta$ -actin (43 kDa) in dorsal portions of C1– C2 spinal segments in males (lanes 1, 2), ovariectomized (ovx) (lanes 3, 4) and ovariectomized and treated with oestradiol (ovx + E2) (lanes 5, 6) animals. Compared with the vehicle (1, 3, 5), nitroglycerin administration (2, 4, 6) enhances the CamKII band in the male (2) and ovx groups (4), but not in the ovx + E2 group (6).

Densitometric analyses of the blots confirmed that CamKII expression in the dorsal C1–C2 segments was significantly enhanced after NTG administration in male and ovx rats, but not in ovx + E2 animals (Fig. 5) and that there was no difference between NTG and vehicle injections in the dorsal part of the Th1 spinal segments in either group (Fig. 6).



**Figure 5** Histogram showing the optical densities of CamKII Western blots in the C1–C2 segments of the three animal groups 4 h after subcutaneous injection of vehicle (light bar) or nitroglycerin (NTG) (dark bar) (mean + SEM, n = 4 per group). Data are expressed as proportions of  $\beta$ -actin band densities. In male and ovariectomized (ovx) rats there is a significant increase in optical density in the CamKII band after NTG (\*P < 0.05), whereas this increase is absent in ovariectomized and treated with oestradiol (ovx + E2) rats.



**Figure 6** Histogram showing the optical densities of CamKII Western blots in the Th1 segments of the three animal groups 4 h after subcutaneous injection of vehicle (light bar) or nitroglycerin (dark bar) (mean + SEM, n = 4 per group). Data are expressed as proportions of  $\beta$ -actin band densities. There is no significant difference between the two animal groups.

# IV.1.2. Selective COX inhibitor pretreatment

During microscopic examinations CamKII-Ir cells were numerous in the superficial layers of the caudal trigeminal nucleus. NTG produced a significant increase of CamKII-positive cells in the superficial layers of the caudal trigeminal nucleus in the non-pretreated rats (P < 0.05) (Fig. 7a, 7b). This phenomenon was similar when rats received the COX-1 inhibitor, SC560 in various doses (1 mg/kg, 5 mg/kg or 10 mg/kg) before NTG (P < 0.05, P < 0.05, P < 0.05 respectively) (Fig. 7c, 7d and 8).



**Figure 7** CamKII-immunoreactivity in the upper cervical spinal cord in control (a, b), SC560-(c, d), and NS398-pretreated (e, f) rats after placebo (a, c, e) or NTG (b, d, f) injections. NS398 pretreatment attenuated the NTG-induced CamKII-activation. Scale bar =  $50 \mu m$ .

Pretreatment with COX-1 inhibitor in any dosages failed to modulate the NTG-induced CamKII enhancement in the TNC (P = 1 for all doses used) (Fig. 8).



**Figure 8** Mean number of CamKII-immunoreactive cells in dorsal horns of SC560-pretreated animals after vehicle (light bar) or NTG (dark bar) injection. There is a significant increase of CamKII-immunoreactive cells after NTG injection in all groups ( ${}^*P < 0.05$ ).

At doses of 3 and 5 mg/kg of the selective COX-2 inhibitor NS398, NTG treatment failed to induce a statistically significant increase in CamKII expression (P = 0.84, P = 0.7, respectively) (Fig. 7e, 7f and 9). The NTG-induced CamKII upregulation was attenuated by 3 mg/kg (P < 0.05) and 5 mg/kg (P < 0.001) of the selective COX-2 inhibitor (Fig. 9).



**Figure 9** Mean number of CamKII-immunoreactive cells in dorsal horns of NS398-pretreated animals after vehicle (light bar) or NTG (dark bar) injections. 3 and 5 mg/kg NS398 pretreatment attenuated the NTG-induced increase in CamKII-activation, but 1 mg/kg not ( ${}^{*}P < 0.05$ ;  ${}^{\#}P < 0.05$ ;  ${}^{\#}P < 0.001$ ).

# IV.2. nNOS

Transverse sections of the cervical spinal cord demonstrated many nNOS-Ir neurons in the superficial laminae of the dorsal horns. These cells are mainly small to medium sized neurons (8-15  $\mu$ m in diameter) with few dentrites. There was no significant difference in the number of Ir cells at different levels of the C1-C2 region. NTG produced significant increase of nNOS-positive cells in the superficial layers of the caudal trigeminal nucleus in the non-pretreated rats (P < 0.01) (Fig. 10a, 10b).

This phenomenon was similar when rats received the COX-1 inhibitor, SC560 in various doses (1 mg/kg, 5 mg/kg or 10 mg/kg) before NTG (P < 0.05, P < 0.01, P < 0.05 respectively) (Fig. 10e, 10f and 11).

The COX-2 inhibitor NS398 given at the dose of 3 mg/kg (P = 0.82) or 5 mg/kg (P = 1), but not of 1 mg/kg (P < 0.05) prior to NTG attenuated the NO-induced nNOS increase (Fig. 10c, 10d and 12). Compared to the control group, after NTG injections, the number of nNOS-Ir neurons was significantly lower in the animals, which received the highest dose of NS398 (P < 0.05) (Fig. 12).



**Figure 10** nNOS-immunoreactivity in the upper cervical spinal cord in control (a, b), NS398-(c, d), and SC560-pretreated (e, f) rats after placebo (a, c, e) or NTG (b, d, f) injections. NS398 pretreatment attenuated the NTG-induced nNOS-activation. Scale bar =  $50 \mu m$ .



Figure 11 Mean number of nNOS-immunoreactive cells in dorsal horns of SC560-pretreated animals after vehicle (light bar) or NTG (dark bar) injection. There is a significant increase of nNOS-immunoreactive cells after NTG injection in all groups ( ${}^*P < 0.05$ ).



Figure 12 Mean number of nNOS-immunoreactive cells in dorsal horns of NS398-pretreated animals after vehicle (light bar) or NTG (dark bar) injections. 3 and 5 mg/kg NS398 pretreatment attenuated the NTG-induced increase in nNOS-activation, but 1 mg/kg not  $(^{\#,*}P < 0,05)$ .

#### V. Discussion

#### V.1. NTG-induced CamKII and its modulation by estradiol

Our data demonstrated that systemic administration of NTG enhances CamKII immunoreactivity in laminae I-III of the spinal portion of the TNC. Previous studies have demonstrated increases of c-fos (Tassorelli & Joseph, 1995) and nNOS expression (Pardutz et al., 2000) in TNC after NTG administration at a dose of 10 mg/kg. The latter may be a molecular basis for a self-amplifying process and sensitization, as described clinically during migraine attacks (Burstein et al., 2000). The effect of the NO donor on nNOS expression seemed to be selective for the trigeminal system, as no effect was detected in upper thoracic segments (Pardutz et al., 2000). We found the same trigeminal selectivity for the NTGinduced CamKII changes. NO probably activates the trigeminal system via an effect on the peripheral nociceptive afferents, since capsaicin pretreatment, which destroys these small afferent fibres, abolishes the NTG-induced c-fos activation of secondary trigeminal nociceptors (Tassorelli et al., 1997). NTG itself has different effects on nociception depending on the dose administered (Sousa & Prado, 2001; Colasanti & Suzuki, 2000). In the rat, an intravenous infusion of glycerylnitrate at low doses (2-50 mg/kg per min) does not cause cfos activation in the TNC (Martin & Martin, 2001) or an increase of jugular vein CGRP levels (Offenhauser et al., 2005), despite its capability to enhance stimulus sensitivity in the trigeminal system (Lambert et al., 2002). In humans, microgram doses are used intravenously or sublingually to trigger migraine attacks (Olesen et al., 1993). There may thus be species differences in the dose- response relationship of NTG. As far as the time course of the NTGinduced effects is concerned, its brain concentrations and those of cGMP rise significantly 2 h after subcutaneous administration. Fos expression peaks at 1 h in neurons belonging to vasoregulatory areas, but only at 4 h in TNC neurons (Tassorelli et al., 1999).

There is strong evidence that CamKII plays a key role in nociceptive processing and sensitization of central sensory neurons (Choi *et al.*, 2006; Luo *et al.*, 2008). It was shown that CamKII located in the hippocampus is important regulator during the nociceptive processes induced by formalin, glutamate, pro-inflammatory cytokines, and acetic acid injection (Seo *et al.*, 2008). Autophosphorylation-deficient CamKII mutant mice display

deficiencies in ongoing nociceptive responses in the formalin model, leading to the hypothesis that CamKII is primarily involved in spontaneous nociception (Zeitz et al., 2004). CamKII is abundant in the superficial layers of the dorsal horns, where it is increased during the noxious stimuli induced by capsaicin (Fang et al., 2002) or by formalin (Liang et al., 2004). Intratechal injections of substance P also increases CamKII immunoreactivity in laminae I-II of the spinal cord (Choi et al., 2005), and this increase can be blocked by CamKII inhibitors (Fang et al., 2002). CamKII protein is increased in the medullary dorsal horn following nerve injury to the inferior alveolar nerve wherein mechanical allodynia is alleviated by CamKII inhibition (Ogawa et al., 2005). Peripheral CamKII immunoreactivity is also increased following complete Freund's adjuvant -induced inflammation (Carlton 2002). Price et al. (2005) provided evidence that capsaicin stimulates autophosphorylation of CamKII in sensory neurons and that pharmacological inhibition of CamKII reduces vanilloid receptor 1-mediated CGRP release. It was shown that more than half of dorsal root ganglion cells are CamKIIpositive, especially in the trigeminal ganglion, where it is expressed in CGRP- and vanilloid receptor 1-immunoreactive neurons (Ichikawa et al., 2004). The hyperexcitability induced by capsaicin in trigeminal ganglion neurons via inactivation of I(A) currents is also mediated in part by CamKII (Liu & Simon, 2003), as well as the activation of the vanilloid receptor 1 by phosphorylation in rat ganglion cells (Jung et al., 2004). It has been recently discovered that nociceptive stimuli up-regulate CamKII in the dorsal horns by peptidergic afferents (Larsson & Broman, 2006), which are also crucial in migraine. In cultured neurons it has been shown that CamKII is able to decrease nNOS activity by phosphorylating this protein (Komeima et al., 2000), raising the remote possibility that CamKII might counteract the NTG-induced nNOS activation. Moreover, in rats and mice calmodulin can activate various adenylyl cyclases which contribute to sensitization in the spinal cord (Wei et al., 2006). In a recent study the CamKII inhibitor, KN93 dose-dependently prevented the inflammation-induced thermal hyperalgesia and mechanical allodynia (Luo et al., 2008). We now show that CamKII

can also be activated in secondary trigeminal nociceptors by high doses of the NO donor NTG, which suggests that it may play a role in NTG-induced migraine headaches. Although the involvement of CamKII in migraineurs is not yet proven, these data suggest that this enzyme plays an important role in migraine pathogenesis. In our study we demonstrated that systemic administration of NTG enhances CamKII expression in the superficial layers of the

TNC, which suggest that CamKII may play a role in sensitization of the trigeminal system and in the pain processes during migraine.

Estrogens are known to modulate nociception (Craft et al., 2004), including migraine attacks (Somerville 1975). It was shown that protracted estrogen deprivation tends to have pronociceptive effects in the orofacial formalin model of pain in mice (Multon et al., 2005) and in the rat NTG model, where it blunts CGRP and 5-HT changes in the superficial laminae of the TNC (Pardutz et al., 2002). In both instances the observed abnormalities are reversed by estradiol administration. In the hippocampus, where CamKII is known to be crucial for long-term potentiation (Havik et al., 2003), estradiol can rapidly induce its neuronal expression (Pozzo-Miller et al., 1999; Sawai et al., 2002). Our results contrast with the latter, in so far as chronic administration of estradiol has no detectable effect on baseline expression of CamKII in TNC, but is able to suppress its activation by nitroglycerin. Estrogen receptors are present on spinal sensory ganglion neurons (Yang et al., 1998; Taleghany et al., 1999) and in the spinal grey matter (Shughrue & Merchenthaler, 2001). Estradiol may thus act at the genomic level, which would modulate the expression of CamKII and hence annihilate any detectable change in its immunoreactivity after NTG administration. Whether these findings are relevant to the hormonal influences on migraine remains speculative. However, combined with the clinical observation that female migraineurs are more sensitive to certain trigger factors during the perimenstrual period, they may suggest that the low estrogen levels of the premenstrual and menstrual phases render female migraineurs also more prone to the attacktriggering effects of NTG. By the same token, one could draw a parallel between our data in rats, showing that chronic estradiol treatment suppresses the selective activation of secondary trigeminal nociceptors by nitroglycerin, and the clinical observation that migraine attacks tend to be suppressed when sex hormone levels are high and stable, such as during pregnancy (Marcus 1995, Silberstein & Merriam, 2000).

In summary, NTG, a NO donor, is able to induce CamKII expression in the superficial layers of the TNC in the rat. This effect is annihilated by chronic high concentrations of estradiol. Considering the known biological properties of CamKII, one may expect that its increased expression after NO enhances nociception in the trigeminal system. In contrast, the suppression of this activation by high estradiol levels can be regarded as trigeminal antinociception. The acute NTG-induced and the chronic estradiol-dependent changes both

seem to be selective for the trigeminal sytem. They may thus be relevant to an understanding of the delayed NTG-triggered headache attacks in migraineurs and in patients suffering from chronic tension-type headache, and of the protective effect of stable plasma estrogen levels. They may also give some hints on the molecular effects of NO donors and ovarian steroids in trigeminovascular pain syndromes, such as migraine.

## V.2. Effect of COX inhibitors

The major findings of our studies are (1) the selective COX-2 inhibitor NS398 attenuated the NTG-induced nNOS and CamKII activation in the superficial layers of the most caudal portion of the TNC in the rat, (2) in contrast, the pretreatment with a selective COX-1 inhibitor, SC560, failed to modulate this phenomenon.

It is not precisely known how NTG administration modifies the nNOS expression in the TNC. This modification is probably due to a secondary activation of second order nociceptive neurons and/or interneurons by NO excitation of their peripherial afferents, which might initiate a self-amplifying process of NO production possibly leading to central sensitization (Pardutz et al., 2000). Increased prostaglandin E2 release and NO production of monocytes were found in patients with migraine without aura, which indicates that NOS and COX pathways are linked in monocytes (Stirparo et al., 2000). In migraine patients, it has been shown that there is an early activation of the L-arginine/NO pathway and a late rise in the synthesis of prostanoids after the onset of the headache (Sarchielli et al., 2000). Since in earlier experiments the nonspecific COX-inhibitor lysine acetyl-salicylate treatment attenuated the NTG-induced nNOS expression (Pardutz et al., 2004), the prostanoids may have an important role in the signal transduction. Since lysine acetyl-salycilate has COX-2 inhibiting property, these earlier data are concordant with our present observation about the effect of the selective COX-2 inhibitor NS398 on the NTG-induced nNOS activation. Our study provides the first evidence that the elevation in nNOS immunoreactivity can be influenced selectively by COX inhibitors.

Furthermore we have shown that the selective COX-2 inhibitor, NS398 attenuated the NTG-induced increase of CamKII expression in the superficial layers of the lower TNC in rats. In contrast, pre-treatment with a selective COX-1 inhibitor, SC560 was not able to

modulate this phenomenon. COX-1 can be found in the sensory ganglia and the spinal cord and there are results suggesting its involvement in nociception (Dou *et al.*, 2004; Zhu & Eisenach, 2003). Previous studies have demonstrated that oral SC-560 at a dose of 30 mg/kg can reduce carragenan-induced thermal hyperalgesia (Yaksh *et al.*, 2001). It is also known that SC-560 displays low (<15%) bioavailability after given orally (Teng *et al.*, 2003). Comparable parenteral dosage of SC-560 in our study failed to modulate the NTG induced increase of CamKII expression suggesting that COX-1 is not involved in this phenomenon.

It has been shown that systemic NTG increased the expression of COX-2 and prostaglandin E2 in the lower brain stem after 4 h (Tassorelli et al., 2007). COX-2 inhibitors are effective in the treatment of migraine. In animals, constitutively expressed COX-2 is found in the superficial dorsal horn of the rat spinal cord (Beiche et al., 1998). It has been proposed that prostaglandins, synthesized by COX-2, assist in synaptic transmission (Adams et al., 1996) and enhance postsynaptic activity of both excitatory and inhibitory neurotransmitters (Kimura et al., 1985). These data may explain the fact that COX-2- and/or COX-2-derived metabolites play an important role in central sensitization (Samad et al., 2001) and they are thought to mediate most of the analgesic effects of NSAIDs (Yaksh et al., 2001). In rats, nimesulide, a preferential COX-2 inhibitor, showed a significant analgesic effect in tailflick and in formalin tests, and it was also effective in these tests after NTGinduced hyperalgesia (Tassorelli et al., 2003). Contrary to the COX-2 inhibitor celecoxib, the COX-1 inhibitor SC560 failed to reduce edema and hyperalgesia after carrageenan induced inflammation in the rat (Smith et al., 1998). Oral and intrathecal administration of SC560 did not alter the behavior changes in the formalin test where celecoxib and indomethacin were effective (Yamamoto et al., 2002). Taken together these data and our present results suggest that the stimulating effect of NTG and that of NO on nNOS and CamKII expression in secondary trigeminal nociceptors are mediated by COX-2-expressing interneurons in the TNC superficial laminae. Therefore, COX-2 may participate in the activation of the trigeminal system and may be a crucial enzyme in the pathophysiology of headaches. We have demonstrated that NO-induced nNOS and CamKII expression in the TNC of the rat is dosedependently attenuated by pretreatment with COX-2 but not with COX-1 inhibitors. These data suggest that prostanoids, especially produced via the COX-2 pathway, are involved in NO-mediated activation of the trigeminal system. The fact that COX-2 plays a role in this
self-amplifying process of the trigeminal area may give us further details about headache and migraine pathophysiology.

## **VI.** Conclusions

In our paper we used a reproductive animal model for migraine headache the systemic administration of NTG in rats.

**i.** In the caudal trigeminal nucleus of the rat the NO donor NTG caused a delayed induction of CamKII, which is thought to play a role in sensitization of central nociceptors, a phenomen present in migraineurs.

**ii**. We examined the modulatory effect of estradiol, a gonadal steroid which influences the clinical picture of migraine on the NTG-induced CamKII enhancement. NTG had no effect on CamKII expression in estradiol-treated ovariectomized animals. Thus NTG, i.e. NO, selectively enhances CamKII in the rat TNC and estradiol blocks this effect.

**iii.** We also investigated the effect of selective COX inhibitors on the NTG-induced nNOS and CamKII expression in the TNC. In earlier experiments the nonspecific COX-inhibitor lysine acetyl-salicylate treatment attenuated the NTG-induced nNOS expression (Pardutz et al., 2004), which suggested that the prostanoids may be involved in NO-mediated activation of the trigeminal system. In our study we demonstrated that NO-induced nNOS and CamKII expression in the TNC of the rat is dose-dependently attenuated by pretreatment with COX-2 but not with COX-1 inhibitors.

These data suggest that COX-2 plays a role in the self-amplifying process of the trigeminal area and may contribute to a better understanding of the pathomechanisms of migraine headache and the relevance of the modulating effect of estradiol and selective COX-2 inhibitors in these conditions.

## VII. Acknowledgement

I would like to express my gratitude to Prof. László Vécsei, member of the Hungarian Academy of Sciences, Head of the Department of Neurology, University of Szeged and to my supervisor Dr. Árpád Párdutz, Assistant Professor of the Department of Neurology, University of Szeged for their scientific guidance and continuous support of my research activities. I would also like to thank to Dr. János Tajti, Associate Professor of the Department of Neurology, University of Szeged for his scientific advices.

I wish to thank to all co-workers with whom I performed the experiments, especially Enikő Vámos, Ph.D. student of the Department of Neurology, University of Szeged. I would like to acknowledge the technical help of Valéria Széll Vékonyné.

I wish to express my special gratitude to my family and friends for their endless support during my work.

## References

- Ackerman S, Wiliamson DJ, Kaube H and Goadsby PJ (2002) Nitric oxide synthase inhibitors can antagonize neurogenic and calcitonin gene-related peptide induced dilation of dural meningeal vessels. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* **137**, 62-8.
- Adams J, CollacoMoraes Y and deBelleroche J (1996) Cyclooxygenase-2 induction in cerebral cortex: an intracellular response to synaptic excitation. *J. Neurochem.* **66**, 6-13.
- Amir BY, Yaacov B, Guy B, et al. (2005) Headaches in women undergoing in vitro fertilization and embryo-transfer treatment. *Headache* **45**, 215-9.
- Andlin-Sobocki P, Jonsson B, Wittchen HU and Olesen J (2005) Cost of disorders of the brain in Europe. *Eur. J. Neurol.* 12, 1-27.
- Anthony M and Rasmussen BK (1993) Migraine without aura. In: *The headaches*, (Olesen, Tfelt Hansen, Welch, eds), Raven Press, New York, pp 255-61.
- Ashina M, Bendtsen L, Jensen R and Olesen J (2000) Nitric oxide-induced headache in patients with chronic tension-type headache. *Brain* **123**, 1830-7.
- Avoli M, Drapeau C, Louvel J, et al. (1991) Epileptiform activity induced by low extracellular magnesium in the human cortex maintained in vitro. *Ann. Neurol.* **30**, 589-96.
- Beiche F, Klein T, Nusing R, et al. (1998) Localization of cyclooxygenase-2 and prostaglandin E-2 receptor EP3 in the rat lumbar spinal cord. *J. Neuroimmunol.* 89, 26-34.
- Berger RJ, Zuccarello M and Keller JT (1994) Nitric oxide synthase immunoreactivity in the rat dura mater. *Neuroreport* **5**, 519-21.
- Bingham S, Beswick PJ, Bountra C, et al. (2005) The cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitor GW406381X [2 (4 ethoxyphenyl) 3 [4 (methylsulfonyl) phenyl] pyrazolo [1,5 -b]pyridazine] is effective in animal models of neuropathic pain and central sensitization. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* **312**, 1161-9.
- Blau JN and Dexter SI (1981) The site of pain origin during migraine attacks. *Cephalalgia* **1**, 143-7.
- Bolay H, Reuter U, Dunn AK, et al. (2002) Intrinsic brain activity triggers trigeminal meningeal afferents in a migraine model. *Nat. Med.* **8**, 136-42.

- Burstein R, Cutrer FM and Yarnitsky D (2000) The development of cutaneous allodynia during a migraine attack: clinical evidence for the sequential recruitment of spinal and supraspinal nociceptive neurons in migraine. *Brain* **123**, 1703-9.
- Burstein R, Yamamura H, Malick A, et al. (1998) Chemical stimulation of the intracranial dura induces enhanced responses to facial stimulation in brain stem trigeminal neurons. *J. Neurophysiol.* **79**, 964-82.
- Burstein R, Yarnitsky D, Goor-Aryeh I, et al. (2000) An association between migraine and cutaneous allodynia. *Ann. Neurol.* **47**, 614-24.
- Carlton SM (2002) Localization of CaMKII alpha in rat primary sensory neurons: increase in inflammation. *Brain Res.* **947**, 252-9.
- Choi SS, Seo YJ, Kwon MS, et al. (2005) Increase of phosphorylation of calcium/calmodulin dependent protein kinase-II in several brain regions by substance P administered intrathecally in mice. *Brain Res. Bull.* **65**, 375-81.
- Choi SS, Seo YJ, Shim EJ, et al. (2006) Involvement of phosphorylated Ca<sup>2+</sup>/calmodulindependent protein kinase II and phosphorylated extracellular signal-regulated protein in the mouse formalin pain model. *Brain Res.* **1108**, 28-38.
- Coderre TJ and Yashpal K (1994) Intracellular messengers contributing to persistent nociception and hyperalgesia induced by L-glutamate and substance P in the rat formalin pain model. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* **6**, 1328-34.
- Colasanti M and Suzuki H (2000) The dual personality of NO. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* 21, 249-52.
- Costa A, Smeraldi A, Tassorelli C, et al. (2005) Effects of acute and chronic restraint stress on nitroglycerin-induced hyperalgesia in rats. *Neurosci. Lett.* **383**, 7-11.
- Craft RM, Mogil JS and Aloisi AM (2004) Sex differences in pain and analgesia: the role of gonadal hormones. *Eur. J. Pain* **8**, 397-411.
- de Tommaso M, Guido M, Libro G, et al. (2002) Abnormal pain processing of cutaneous pain in migraine patients during the attack. *Neurosci. Lett.* **333**, 29-32.
- de Tommaso M, Libro G, Guido M, et al. (2004) Nitroglycerin induces migraine headache and central sensitization phenomena in patients with migraine without aura: a study of laser evoked potentials. *Neurosci. Lett.* **363**, 272-5.

- Dodick D and Silberstein S (2006) Central sensitization theory of migraine: clinical implications. *Headache* **46**, S182-91.
- Dohrn CS, Mullett MA, Price RH and Beitz AJ (1994) Distribution of nitric oxide synthaseimmunoreactive interneurons in the spinal trigeminal nucleus. *J. Comp. Neurol.* 346, 449-60.
- Dou WK, Jiao Y, Goorha S, et al. (2004) Nociception and the differential expression of cyclooxygenase-1 (COX-1), the COX-1 variant retaining intron-1 (COX-1v), and COX-2 in mouse dorsal root ganglia (DRG). *Prostaglandins Other Lipid Mediat*. 74, 29-43.
- Ebersberger A, Averbeck B, Messlinger K and Reeh PW (1999) Release of substance P, calcitonin gene-related peptide and prostaglandin E2 from rat dura mater encephali following electrical and chemical stimulation in vitro. *Neuroscience* **89**, 901-7.
- Fang L, Wu J, Lin Q and Willis WD (2002) Calcium-calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II contributes to spinal cord central sensitization. J. Neurosci. 22, 4196-204.
- Fidan I, Yüksel S, Ýmir T, et al. (2006) The importance of cytokines, chemokines and nitric oxide in pathophysiology of migraine. *J. Neuroimmun.* **171**, 184-8.
- Forstermann U and Kleinert H (1995) Nitric oxide synthase: expression and expressional control of the three isoforms. *Naunyn. Schmiedeberg's Arch. Pharmacol.* **352**, 351-64.
- Fozard JR and Gray JA (1989) 5-HTC receptor activation: a key step in the initiation of migraine? *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* **10**, 307-9.
- Fozard JR and Kalkmann HO (1994) 5-hydroxytryptamine (5-HT) and the initiation of migraine: new perspectives. *Naunyn. Schmiedebergs Arch. Pharmacol.* **350**, 225-9.
- Friedberg L, Olesen J, Iversen HK and Sperling B (1991) Migraine pain associated with middle cerebral artery dilatation: reversal by sumatriptan. *Lancet* **338**, 13-7.
- Geary GG, Krause DN and Duckles SP (1998) Estrogen reduces myogenic tone through a nitric oxide-dependent mechanism in rat cerebral arteries. *Am. J. Physiol.* **275**, H292-300.
- Goadsby PJ and Edvinsson L (1993) The trigeminovascular system and migraine: studies characterizing cerebrovascular and neuropeptide changes seen in humans and cats. Ann. Neurol. 33, 48-56.
- Goadsby PJ, Kaube H and Hoskin KL (1992) Nitric oxide synthesis couples cerebral blood flow and metabolism. *Brain Res.* **595**, 167-70.

- Goadsby PJ, Zagami AS and Lambert GA (1991) Neural processing of craniovascular pain: a synthesis of the central structures involved in migraine. *Headache* **31**, 365-71.
- Havik B, Rokke H, Bardsen K, et al. (2003) Bursts of high-frequency stimulation trigger rapid delivery of pre-existing alpha-CaMKII mRNA to synapses: a mechanism in dendritic protein synthesis during longterm potentiation in adult awake rats. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 17, 2679-89.
- Hoskin KL, Bulmer DC and Goadsby PJ (1999) Fos expression in the trigeminocervical complex of the cat after stimulation of the superior sagittal sinus is reduced by L-NAME. *Neurosci. Lett.* **266**, 173-6.
- Hudmon A and Schulman H (2002) Neuronal Ca<sup>2+</sup>/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II: the role of structure and autoregulation in cellular function. *Annu. Rev. Biochem.* 71, 473-510.
- Humphrey PP and Goadsby PJ (1994) The mode of action of sumatriptan is vascular? A debate. *Cephalalgia* **14**, 401-10.
- Hunt SP, Pini A and Evan G (1987) Induction of c-fos-like protein in spinal cord neurons following sensory stimulation. *Nature* **328**, 632-4.
- Ichikawa H, Gouty S, Regalia J, et al. (2004) Ca<sup>2+</sup>/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II in the rat cranial sensory ganglia. *Brain Res.* **1005**, 36-43.
- Institoris A, Domoki F, Busija DW and Bari F (2009) The role of cyclooxygenase (COX)-2 in ischemic brain injury. In: *Recent advances and new strategies in stroke research, Transworld Research Network,* (Erdo Ed), Kerala, India, pp 135-51.
- Iversen HK, Olesen J and Tfelt-Hansen P (1989) Intravenous nitroglycerin as an experimental model of vascular headache. Basic characteristics. *Pain* **38**, 17-24.
- Jakubowski M, Levy D, Goor-Aryeh I, et al. (2005) Terminating migraine with allodynia and ongoing central sensitization using parenteral administration of COX1/COX2 inhibitors. *Headache* **45**, 850-61.
- Johnson KW, Nelson DL, Dieckman DK, et al. (2003) Neurogenic dural protein extravasation induced by meta-chlorophenylpiperazine (mCPP) involves nitric oxide and 5-HT2B receptor activation. *Cephalalgia* **23**, 117-23.

- Jung JY, Shin JS, Lee SY, et al. (2004) Phosphorylation of vanilloid receptor 1 by Ca<sup>2+/</sup> calmodulin-dependent kinase II regulates its vanilloid binding. *J. Biol. Chem.* **279**, 7048-54.
- Kaube H, Katsarava Z, Przywara S, et al. (2002) Acute migraine headache: possible sensitization of neurons in the spinal trigeminal nucleus? *Neurology* **58**, 1234-8.
- Kelm M (1999) Nitric oxide metabolism and breakdown. *Biochem. Biophys. Acta* 1411, 273-89.
- Kimura H, Okamoto K and Sakai Y (1985) Modulatory effects of prostaglandin-D2, E2 and F2-alpha on the postsynaptic actions of inhibitory and excitatory amino-acids in cerebellar Purkinje-cell dendrites in vitro. *Brain Res.* 330, 235-44.
- Kis B, Snipes A, Bari F and Busija DW (2004) Regional distribution of cyclooxygenase-3 m-RNA in the rat central nervous system. *Mol. Brain Res.* **126**, 78-80.
- Kolaj M, Cerne R, Cheng G, et al. (1994) Alpha subunit of calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase enhances excitatory amino acid and synaptic responses of rat spinal dorsal horn neurons. J. Neurophysiol. 72, 2525-31.
- Komeima K, Hayashi Y, Naito Y and Watanabe Y (2000) Inhibition of neuronal nitric-oxide synthase by calcium/calmodulindependent protein kinase II alpha through Ser (847) phosphorylation in NG108-15 neuronal cells. J. Biol. Chem. 275, 28139-43.
- Koulchitsky S, Fischer MJ, De Col R, et al. (2004) Biphasic response to nitric oxide of spinal trigeminal neurons with meningeal input in rat possible implications for the pathophysiology of headaches. *J. Neurophysiol.* **92**, 1320-8.
- Lam HH, Hanley DF, Trapp BD, et al. (1996) Induction of spinal cord neuronal nitric oxide synthase (NOS) after formalin injection in the rat hind paw. *Neurosci. Lett.* **210**, 201-4.
- Lambert GA, Boers PM, Hoskin KL, et al. (2002) Suppression by eletriptan of the activation of trigeminovascular sensory neurons by glyceryl trinitrate. *Brain Res.* **953**, 181-8.
- Lance JW (1991) 5-Hydroxytriptamine and the pathophysiology of migraine. *J. Neurol.* **238**, S38-44.
- Lange R, Schwarz JA and Hohn M (2000) Acetylsalicylic acid effervescent 1000 mg (Aspirin) in acute migraine attacks; a multicentre, randomized, double-blind, singledose, placebocontrolled parallel group study. *Cephalalgia* 20, 663-7.

- Larsson M and Broman J (2006) Pathway-specific bidirectional regulation of Ca<sup>2+</sup>/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II at spinal nociceptive synapses after acute noxious stimulation. *J. Neurosci.* **26**, 4198-205.
- Lassen LH, Ashina M, Christiansen I, et al. (1997) Nitric oxide inhibition in migraine. *Lancet* **349**, 401-2.
- Lauritzen M (1994) Pathophysiology of the migraine aura. The spreading depression theory. *Brain* **117**, 199-210.
- Leao AAP (1944) Pial circulation and spreading activity in the cerebral cortex. J. *Neurophysiol.* **7**, 391-6.
- Liang DY, Li X and Clark JD (2004) Formalin-induced spinal cord calcium/calmodulindependent protein kinase II alpha expression is modulated by heme oxygenase in mice. *Neurosci. Lett.* **360**, 61-4.
- Lin Q, Palecek J, Paleckova V, et al. (1999) Nitric oxide mediates the central sensitization of primate spinothalamic tract neurons. *J. Neurophysiol.* **81**, 1075-85.
- Liu L and Simon SA (2003) Modulation of IA currents by capsaicin in rat trigeminal ganglion neurons. *J. Neurophysiol.* **89**, 1387-401.
- Luo F, Yang C, Chen Y, et al. (2008) Reversal of chronic inflammatory pain by acute inhibition of Ca<sup>2+</sup>/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 325, 267-75.
- Luo ZD, and Cizkova D (2000) The role of nitric oxide in nociception. *Curr. Rev. Pain* **4**, 459-66.
- Ma WY, Huang C and Dong Z (1998) Inhibition of ultraviolet C irradiation-induced AP-1 activity by aspirin is through inhibition of JNKs but not erks or P38 MAP kinase. *Int. J. Oncol.* **12**, 565-8.
- MacGregor EA (2004) Oestrogen and attacks of migraine with and without aura. *Lancet Neurol.* **3**, 354–61.
- Magos AL, Zilkha KJ and Studd JW (1983) Treatment of menstrualmigraine by oestradiol implants. *J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry* **46**, 1044-6.
- Mao J, Price DD, Zhu J, et al. (1997) The inhibition of nitric oxideactivated poly(ADP-ribose) synthetase attenuates transsynaptic alteration of spinal cord dorsal horn neurons and neuropathic pain in the rat. *Pain* **72**, 355-66.

- Marcus DA (1995) Interrelationships of neurochemicals, estrogen, and recurring headache. *Pain* **62**, 129-39.
- Martin RS and Martin GR (2001) Investigations into migraine pathogenesis: time course for effects of m-CPP, BW723C86 or glyceryl trinitrate on appearance of Fos-like immunoreactivity in rat trigeminal nucleus caudalis (TNC). *Cephalalgia* **21**, 46-52.
- Moncada S, Palmer RMJ and Higgs EA (1991) Nitric oxide: physiology, pathophysiology and pharmacology. *Pharmacol. Rev.* **43**, 109-41.
- Moskowitz MA (1993) Neurogenic inflammation in the pathophysiology and treatment of migraine. *Neurology* **43**, S16-20.
- Moskowitz MA (2007) Genes, proteases, cortical spreading depression and migraine: impact on pathophysiology and treatment. *Funct. Neurol.* **22**, 133-6.
- Moskowitz MA and Macfarlane R (1993) Neurovascular and molecular mechanisms in migraine headaches. *Cerebrovasc. Brain Metab. Rev.* **5**, 159-77.
- Moskowitz MA, Bolay H and Dalkara T (2004) Deciphering migraine mechanisms: clues from familial hemiplegic migraine genotypes. *Ann. Neurol.* **55**, 276-80.
- Moskowitz MA, Curter FM, Lee WS et al. (1995) Drug discovery in migraine circa 1995. In: *Experimental Headache Models*, Chapter 8, (Olesen, Moskowitz MA, eds), Lippincott-Raven Publ., Philadelphia, pp 63-73.
- Multon S, Pardutz A, Mosen J, et al. (2005) Lack of estrogen increases pain in the trigeminal formalin model: a behavioural and immunocytochemical study of transgenic ArKO mice. *Pain* **114**, 257-65.
- Murad F (1990) Drugs used for the treatment of angina: organic nitrates, calcium-channel blockers and beta-adrenergic antagonists. In: *The Pharmacological Basis of Therapeutics*, (Goodman Gilman, TW Rall, Nies As and P Taylor eds.), Raven Press, New York, pp: 764-83.
- Offenhauser N, Zinck T, Hoffmann J, et al. (2005) CGRP release and c-fos expression within trigeminal nucleus caudalis of the rat following glyceryltrinitrate infusion. *Cephalalgia* **25**, 225-36.
- Ogawa A, Dai Y, Yamanaka H, et al. (2005) Ca<sup>(2+)</sup>/calmodulin-protein kinase IIalpha in the trigeminal subnucleus caudalis contributes to neuropathic pain following inferior alveolar nerve transection. *Exp. Neurol.* **192**, 310-9.

- Olesen J, Iversen HK and Thomsen LL (1993) Nitric oxide supersensitivity: a possible molecular mechanism of migraine pain. *Neuroreport* **4**, 1027-30.
- Olesen J, Thimsen LL, Lassen LH and Olesen IJ (1995) The nitric oxide hypothesis of migraine and other vascular headaches. *Cephalalgia* **15**, 94-100.
- Pardutz A, Krizbai I, Multon S, et al. (2000) Systemic nitroglycerin increases nNOS levels in rat trigeminal nucleus caudalis. *Neuroreport* **11**, 3071-5.
- Pardutz A, Multon S, Malgrange B, et al. (2002) Effect of systemic nitroglycerin on CGRP and 5-HT afferents to rat caudal spinal trigeminal nucleus and its modulation by estrogen. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 15, 1803-9.
- Pardutz A, Szatmari E, Vecsei L and Schoenen J (2004) Nitroglycerin-induced nNOS increase in rat trigeminal nucleus caudalis is inhibited by systemic administration of lysine acetylsalicylate but not of sumatriptan. *Cephalalgia* **24**, 439-45.
- Pedersen-Bjerregard U, Nielsen LB, Jensen K, et al. (1991) Calcitonin gene-related peptide, neurokinin A and substance P: effects on nociception and neurogenic inflammation in human skin and temporal muscle. *Peptides* 12, 333-7.
- Pietrobon D (2005) Migraine: new molecular mechanisms. Neuroscientist 11, 373-86.
- Pietrobon D (2007) Familial hemiplegic migraine. Neurotherapeutics 4, 274-84.
- Pozzo-Miller LD, Inoue T and Murphy DD (1999) Estradiol increases spine density and NMDA-dependent Ca<sup>2+</sup> transients in spines of CA1 pyramidal neurons from hippocampal slices. *J. Neurophysiol.* **81**, 1404-11.
- Price TJ, Jeske NA, Flores CM and Hargreaves KM (2005) Pharmacological interactions between calcium/calmodulin-dependent kinase II alpha and TRPV1 receptors in rat trigeminal sensory neurons. *Neurosci. Lett.* 389, 94-8.
- Raskin NH (1993) Acute and prophylactic treatment of migraine: practical approaches and pharmacological rationale. *Neurology* **43** (Suppl 3), S39-43.
- Rasmussen BK, Jensen R, Schroll M and Olesen J (1991) Epidemiology of headache in a general population a prevalence study. *J. Clin. Epidemiol.* **44**, 1147–57.
- Read SJ and Parsons AA (2000) Sumatriptan modifies cortical free radical release during cortical spreading depression. A novel antimigraine action for sumatriptan? *Brain Res.* 870, 44-53.

- Read SJ, Smith MI, Hunter AJ and Parsons AA (1996) Measurement of nitric oxide release using a selective microelectrode following repeated waves of cortical spreading depression. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* **118**, 79.
- Saito S, Kidd GJ, Trapp BD, et al. (1994) Rat spinal cord neurons contain nitric oxide synthase. *Neuroscience* **59**, 447-56.
- Samad TA, Moore KA, Sapirstein A, et al. (2001) Interleukin-1 beta-mediated induction of Cox-2 in the CNS contributes to inflammatory pain hypersensitivity. *Nature* **410**, 471-5.
- Sanchez-Del-Rio M, Reuter U and Moskowitz MA (2006) New insights into migraine pathophysiology. *Curr. Opin. Neurol.* **19**, 294-8.
- Sandrini G, Tassorelli C, Proietti Cecchini A, et al. (2002) Effects of nimesulide in nitric-oxide-induced hyperalgesia in humans: a neurophysiological study. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 450, 259-62.
- Sarchielli P, Alberti A, Codini M, et al. (2000) Nitric oxide metabolites, prostaglandins and trigeminal vasoactive peptides in internal jugular vein blood during spontaneous migraine attacks. *Cephalalgia* **20**, 907-18.
- Sawai T, Bernier F, Fukushima T, et al. (2002) Estrogen induces a rapid increase of calciumcalmodulin-dependent protein kinase II activity in the hippocampus. *Brain Res.* **950**, 308-11.
- Saxena PR (1994) The pathogenesis and pharmacology of migraine. *Rev. Contemp. Pharmacother.* **5**, 259-69.
- Schoenen J (2000) Tension-type headache. In: Drug Treatment of Migraine and Other Headaches. Monogr Clin Neurosci., (Diener HC ed), Vol 17, Karger, Basel, pp 314-21.
- Schytz HW, Birk S, Wienecke T, et al. (2009) PACAP38 induces migraine-like attacks in patients with migraine without aura. *Brain* **132**, 16-25.
- Seo YJ, Kwon MS, Choi HW, et al. (2008) Differential expression of phosphorylated Ca<sup>2+</sup>/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II and phosphorylated extracellular signal-regulated protein in the mouse hippocampus induced by various nociceptive stimuli. *Neuroscience* **156**, 436-49.
- Shekar YC, Anand IS, Sarma R, et al. (1991) Effect of prolonged infusion of human alpha calcitonin gene-related peptide on hemodynamics, renal bloodflow and hormone levels in congestive heart failure. *Am. J. Cardiol.* **67**, 732-6.

- Shen PJ and Gundlach AL (1999) Prolonged induction of neuronal NOS expression and activity following cortical spreading depression (SD): implications for SD- and NOmediated neuroprotection. *Exp. Neurol.* 160, 317-32.
- Shughrue PJ and Merchenthaler I (2001) Distribution of estrogen receptor beta immunoreactivity in the rat central nervous system. *J. Comp. Neurol.* **436**, 64-81.
- Shukla R, Barthwal MK, Srivastava N, et al. (2001) Blood nitrite levels in patients with migraine during headache-free period. *Headache* **41**, 475-81.
- Sicuteri F, Del Bene E, Poggioni M and Bonazzi A (1987) Unmasking latent dysnociception in healthy subjects. *Headache* **4**, 180-5.
- Silberstein SD (2004) Migraine pathophysiology and its clinical implications. *Cephalalgia* **24**(Suppl 2), 2-7.
- Silberstein SD and Merriam GR (2000) Physiology of the menstrual cycle. *Cephalalgia* 20, 148-54.
- Smith CJ, Zhang Y, Koboldt CM, et al. (1998) Pharmacological analysis of cyclooxygenase-1 in inflammation. *Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. USA*. 95, 13313-8.
- Smith ER, Damassa DA and Davidson JM (1977) Hormone administration: peripheral and intracranial implants. In: *Methods in psychobiology*, (Myers ed), Academic Press, New York, pp 259-79.
- Somerville BW (1975) Estrogen -withdrawal migraine. I. Duration of exposure required and attempted prophylaxis by premenstrual estrogen administration. *Neurology* **75**, 239-44.
- Sousa AM and Prado WA (2001) The dual effect of a nitric oxide donor in nociception. *Brain Res.* **897**, 9-19.
- Stirparo G, Zicari A, Favilla M, et al. (2000) Linked activation of nitric oxide synthase and cyclooxygenase in peripheral monocytes of asymptomatic migraine without aura patients. *Cephalalgia* **20**, 100-6.
- Strassman AM, Raymond SA and Burstein R (1996) Sensitization of meningeal sensory neurons and the origin of headaches. *Nature* **384**, 560-4.
- Taleghany N, Sarajari S, DonCarlos LL, et al. (1999) Differential expression of estrogen receptor alpha and beta in rat dorsal root ganglion neurons. *J. Neurosci. Res.* **57**, 603-15.
- Tassorelli C and Joseph SA (1995) Systemic nitroglycerin induces Fos immunoreactivity in brainstem and forebrain structures of the rat. *Brain Res.* **682**, 167-78.

- Tassorelli C, Greco R, Armentero MT, et al. (2007) A role for brain cyclooxygenase-2 and prostaglandin-E2 in migraine: effects of nitroglycerin. *Int. Rev. Neurobiol.* **82**, 373-82.
- Tassorelli C, Greco R, Wang D, et al. (2003) Nitroglycerin induces hyperalgesia in rats a time-course study. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* **464**, 203-10.
- Tassorelli C, Joseph SA and Nappi G (1997) Neurochemical mechanisms of nitroglycerininduced neuronal activation in rat brain: a pharmacological investigation. *Neuropharmacology* 36, 1417-24.
- Tassorelli C, Joseph SA, Buzzi MG and Nappi G (1999) The effects on the central nervous system of nitroglycerin – putative mechanisms and mediators. *Prog. Neurobiol.* 57, 607-24.
- Teng XW, Abu-Mellal AK, Davies NM (2003) Formulation dependent pharmacokinetics, bioavailability and renal toxicity of a selective cyclooxygenase-1inhibitor SC-560 in the rat. J. Pharm. Pharm. Sci. 6, 205-10.
- Thomsen LL, Eriksen MK, Roemer SF, et al. (2002) A population-based study of familial hemiplegic migraine suggests revised diagnostic criteria. *Brain* **125**, 1379-91.
- Thomsen LL, Krusse C, Iversen HK and Olesen I (1994) A nitric oxide donor (nitroglycerin) triggers genuine migraine attacks. *Eur. J. Neurol.* **1**, 73-80.
- Urban MO and Gebhart GF (1999) Supraspinal contributions to hyperalgesia. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **96**, 7687-92.
- van den Maagdenberg AM, Pietrobon D, Pizzorusso T, et al. (2004) A Cacna1a knockin migraine mouse model with increased susceptibility to cortical spreading depression. *Neuron* **41**, 701-10.
- van der Kuy PH, Merkus FW, Lohman JJ, et al. (2002) Hydroxocobalamin, a nitric oxide scavenger, in the prophylaxis of migraine: an open, pilot study. *Cephalalgia* **22**, 513-9.
- Wahl M, Schilling L, Parsons AA and Kaumann A (1994) Involvement of calcitonin generelated peptide (CGRP) and nitric oxide (NO) in the pial artery dilatation elicited by cortical spreading depression. *Brain Res.* 637, 204-10.
- Wallace JL, Bak A, McKnight W, et al. (1998) Cyclooxygenase 1 contributes to inflammatory responses in rats and mice: implications for gastrointestinal toxicity. *Gastroenterology* 115, 101-9.

- Wang H, Nie H, Zhang RX and Qiao JT (1999) Peripheral nitric oxide contributes to both formalin- and NMDA-induced activation of nociceptors: An immunocytochemical study in rats. J. Neurosci. Res. 57, 824-9.
- Wei EP, Moskowitz MA, Boccalini P and Kontos HA (1992) Calcitonin gene-related peptide mediates nitroglycerin and sodium nitroprusside induce vasodilation in feline pial arterioles. *Circ. Res.* **70**, 1313-9.
- Wei F, Vadakkan KI, Toyoda H, et al. (2006) Calcium calmodulin-stimulated adenylyl cyclases contribute to activation of extracellular signal-regulated kinase in spinal dorsal horn neurons in adult rats and mice. *J. Neurosci.* **26**, 851-61.
- Weiller C, May A, Limmroth V, et al. (1995) Brain stem activation in spontaneous human migraine attacks. *Nat. Med.* **1**, 658-60.
- Welch KM, Nagesh V, Aurora SK and Gelman N (2001) Periaqueductal gray matter dysfunction in migraine: cause or the burden of illness? *Headache* **41**, 629-37.
- Willoughby DA, Moore AR and Colville-Nash PR (2000) COX-1, COX-2, and COX-3 and the future treatment of chronic inflammatory disease. *Lancet* **355**, 646-8.
- Wu J, Fang L, Lin Q and Willis WD (2000) Fos expression is induced by increased nitric oxide release in rat spinal cord dorsal horn. *Neuroscience* **96**, 351-7.
- Yaksh TL, Dirig DM, Conway CM, et al. (2001) The acute antihyperalgesic action of nonsteroidal, anti-inflammatory drugs and release of spinal prostaglandin E-2 is mediated by the inhibition of constitutive spinal cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) but not COX-1. J. Neurosci. 21, 5847-53.
- Yamamoto T and Nozaki-Taguchi N (2002) The role of cyclooxygenase-1 and -2 in the rat formalin test. *Anesth. Analg.* **94**, 962-7.
- Yang E and Schulman H (1999) Structural examination of autoregulation of multifunctional calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II. *J. Biol. Chem.* **274**, 199-208.
- Yang Y, Ozawa H, Lu H, et al. (1998) Immunocytochemical analysis of sex differences in calcitonin gene-related peptide in the rat dorsal root ganglion, with special reference to estrogen and its receptor. *Brain Res.* **791**, 35-42.
- Zeitz KP, Giese KP, Silva AJ and Basbaum AI (2004) The contribution of autophosphorylated alpha-calcium-calmodulin kinase II to injury-induced persistent pain. *Neuroscience* **128**, 889-98.

- Zhang X, Ji RR, Arvidsson J, et al. (1996) Expression of peptides, nitric oxide synthase and NPY receptor in trigeminal and nodose ganglia after nerve lesions. *Exp. Brain Res.* 111, 393-404.
- Zhu XY and Eisenach JC (2003) Cyclooxygenase-1 in the spinal cord is altered after peripheral nerve injury. *Anesthesiology* **99**, 1175-9.

I.